ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

**RECEIVED**

JUL 24 2013

**S.C. Supreme Court**

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Georgetown County  
Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

RONALD COHENS,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-212923  
\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

CARMEN V. GANJEHSANI  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

## ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Whether trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel for neglecting to request a jury instruction on the law of proximate causation where under the evidence presented at trial, the jury could have found that Petitioner's actions did not cause the wreck involved in this case and he was therefore not guilty of assault and battery with intent to kill?
- II. Whether trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to request a jury charge on the defense of accident where one reasonable interpretation of the evidence supported a finding that the wreck was the result of an accident?
- III. Whether trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to argue to the jury during closing arguments that one reasonable interpretation of the evidence presented at trial supported a finding that the wreck was accidental?
- IV. Whether trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel for remarks he made during his opening and closing statements which (1) impugned the integrity and character of Petitioner in a case where Petitioner's credibility was crucial; (2) impugned the integrity of the victim and created the danger that the defense would be seen by the jury as attacking the character of the victim without foundation thereby inflaming the passions and prejudices of the jury against the Petitioner; and (3) diminished Petitioner's assertion that the wreck was the result of an accident?
- V. Whether trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel for (1) neglecting to advise Petitioner of the right to present character witnesses in support of his defense at trial in a case where Petitioner's credibility was essential; and (2) failing to call character witnesses at trial to present to the jury testimony concerning Petitioner's reputation for veracity in the community?
- VI. Whether trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel when he was late the second day of trial where (1) counsel's tardiness resulted in the cross-examination of the victim occurring after the full testimony of another State's witness; (2) counsel failed to object to and preserve for appeal the requirement that he apologize to the jury for arriving late as a condition to being allowed to cross-examine the victim where the defense has a constitutional right to cross-examine witnesses; and (3) counsel failed to request a mistrial and then a curative instruction where the trial judge admonished counsel for being late in the presence of the jury?

## STATEMENT

### **Indictments, Trial and Sentence**

On April 5, 2006, Petitioner Ronald Cohens was indicted by the Georgetown County Grand Jury for (1) assault and battery with intent to kill (“ABWIK”); and (2) failure to stop for a blue light. App. 801-807. On June 27-30, 2006, Cohens proceeded to trial before the Honorable J. Michael Baxley and a jury. App. 1. Cohens was represented by Charles David Barr, and the State was represented by Assistant Solicitors Matthew Modica and Dorie Bioglanti. Id. The jury found Cohens guilty as indicted on both charges. App. 424, ll. 20-25. Judge Baxley sentenced Cohens to twelve (12) years for ABWIK and three (3) years concurrent for failure to stop for a blue light. App. 433, ll. 7-14.

### **Direct Appeal**

Cohens filed a direct appeal to the S.C. Court of Appeals. Appellate Defender Katherine H. Hudgins submitted an appellant’s brief, arguing that the trial court erred in beginning the trial without the presence of counsel and then requiring counsel to apologize to the jury for arriving late as a condition for allowing cross-examination of the victim. App. 435-446. On February 9, 2009, the Court of Appeals affirmed, holding that the above raised issues were not preserved for appeal. App. 460-461. Tara Dawn Shurling, who took over Cohens’ representation, sought a rehearing from the Court of Appeals which was denied on April 6, 2009. App. 462-469. Cohens further sought a Petition for a Writ of Certiorari with the S.C. Supreme Court which was denied on April 8, 2010. App. 471-493.

### **PCR Application, Evidentiary Hearing and Order of Dismissal**

On October 8, 2010, Cohens filed his application requesting post-conviction relief (“PCR”). App. 495-501. Cohens specifically alleged his trial counsel was ineffective by:

- (1) failing to be punctual during Cohen's trial where his late arrival to court resulted in him not being able to cross-examine the victim at the appropriate time and damaged his effectiveness as an advocate by making a negative impression on the jury;
- (2) failing to adequately preserve for appellate review his objection to being required to apologize to the jury for being late to court during trial; and
- (3) failing to request a mistrial after the trial judge required him to apologize to the jury in a manner that irreparably damaged his effectiveness as an advocate for the balance of the trial.

App. 497.

The State filed its Return on November 8, 2010. App. 502-506.

On April 25, 2012, Cohens filed a first amended PCR application where he alleged, among other things, the following additional claims:

- (1) Trial counsel was ineffective for neglecting to request a jury instruction on the law of proximate causation where under the evidence presented at trial there was some evidence from which the jury could have found that Cohens' actions did not cause the wreck involved in this case.
- (2) Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to make a motion for a mistrial following an exchange with the trial judge which tended to damage defense counsel's image in the eyes of the jury, and thereby violated Cohens' right to effective assistance of counsel in his defense.
- (3) Trial counsel was ineffective for neglecting to request a curative charge after remarks from the bench damaged trial counsel's image and effectiveness as an advocate in the eyes of Cohens' jury.
- (4) Trial counsel was ineffective for neglecting to advise the client of his right to present character witnesses as a part of his defense at trial and to call such witnesses at trial to present to the jury testimony concerning Cohens' reputation for veracity in the community.

App. 507-509.

Cohens subsequently filed a second amended PCR application on April 27, 2012 to add the following claims:

- (1) Trial counsel was ineffective for making an opening argument to the jury in which he impugned the integrity of his client and thereby called into question his overall character.
- (2) Trial counsel was ineffective for making an opening argument to the jury in which he impugned the integrity of the victim and thereby created the danger that the defense would be seen by the jury as impugning the character of the victim without foundation thereby inflaming the passions and prejudices of the jury against Cohens.
- (3) Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request a jury instruction on the law as it relates to the defense of accident where one reasonable interpretation of the evidence adduced at trial would have supported a finding of that defense.
- (4) Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to argue to the jury in closing arguments that one reasonable interpretation of the evidence supported a finding that the car wreck involved in this case was accidental.

App. 616-617.

An evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Steven H. John on April 26, 2012, which was continued on June 14, 2012. App. 511-615; 619-746. Cohens was represented by Tara Dawn Shurling, and the State was represented by Salley W. Elliott. App. 511. Cohens and his trial counsel, Charles David Barr, testified at both the first and second hearings. App. 524-612; 674-742. Cohens also presented the testimony of four character witnesses in support of his claim that his trial counsel failed to present such witnesses at trial: Travis Brown, David Robinson, James Allen Brittain, and Vonda Gail Johnson. App. 623-673.

On July 30, 2012, Judge John denied Cohens' PCR application on all claims raised. App. 773-779. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The charges in this case arose from an incident in which Cohens' wife was involved in a car wreck which the State charged that Cohens deliberately caused. In addition, Cohens was charged with failure to stop for a blue light in connection with the State's assertion that Cohens subsequently failed to timely pull over in response to a blue light when he was being pursued by law enforcement following the incident. It was the State's theory of the case that Cohens had lay in wait for his estranged wife and after a protracted car chase, deliberately rammed her SUV with his car causing her to run off the road, wreck in the trees and flip over her car. App. 803. Cohens' wife, Nadine Cohens, testified that just before the wreck, she and Cohens were in the left lane. She stated that Cohens was directly behind her and that when he hit her vehicle, she "lost control and . . . went off the road." App. 111, ll. 16-19.

State witness, Ronnie Lewis, testified that just prior to the wreck, he observed Cohens and his wife both traveling in the left lane. He too claimed that Cohens struck his wife's vehicle from behind causing her vehicle to leave the road and wreck. He testified that a bus was traveling in the right lane and when the victim lost control and left the road, her car went across the right lane in front of the bus. App. 141, l. 18 – 146, l. 16.

Another State witness, Frederick Kinloch, initially testified that the victim was traveling in the slow, right lane just before being hit by Cohen's Honda and losing control of her vehicle. He described her as "getting ready to turn in the slow lane." App. 201, ll. 18-20. In response to questioning by the solicitor, Kinloch then stated that the SUV driven by the wife was "moving in the slow lane and then the Honda came on the side and knocked her off the road." App. 201, ll. 21-24.

On cross-examination, however, Kinloch's testimony clearly indicated the SUV driven by the wife was changing lanes from the fast, left lane to the slow, right lane when it was struck by the Honda and went off the side of the road. Although Kinloch testified that Cohens was in the fast lane when he came up beside his wife's vehicle, Kinloch's testimony is otherwise consistent with the position of Cohens in that Kinloch described the wife's SUV as changing from the left lane to the right lane when she was struck on the side by Cohens causing her to leave the road. App. 216, l. 21 – 218, l. 12.

The driver of the bus did not appear as a witness for the State at Cohens' trial.

Cohens, on the other hand, countered that he and his family lived near his estranged wife and that his seeing her in morning traffic on the date in question was entirely coincidental. App. 101, ll. 8-24; 102, ll. 1-5; 339, l. 24 – 340, l. 9. He explained that on the morning in question, he was headed to the IRS office in Myrtle Beach to make arrangements for a payment plan, which happened to be on the same route that his wife would take to her work in Myrtle Beach. App. 341, ll. 5-10; 354, ll. 21-25. For much of the route, Cohens was ahead of his wife in traffic, and his wife agreed with this fact. App. 109, ll. 2-21; 167, ll. 16-19; 168, l. 22 – 169, l. 2; 171, ll. 21-22; 174, ll. 2-4; 341, l. 12 – 342, l. 14. Cohens acknowledged that he had called his wife on her cell phone and that they had been making gestures at each other as they came side by side in traffic. Cohens admitted that at one point their two vehicles hit each other and then they both proceeded down the highway. App. 340, ll. 10-23; 342, ll. 13-23.

Cohens also testified that immediately prior to the wreck, he was traveling in the right lane and his wife was in the left lane. According to Cohens, when his wife went to change

lanes from the left to the right, she clipped the front left side of his car and left the road across the front of his car and wrecked. App. 342, l. 22 – 343, l. 8.

Cohens further admitted that he came back to the scene of the wreck, saw that his wife was moving and free of the wreckage, and then got back in his car and headed to his mother's house. Cohens testified that he had just turned off to go to his mother's house when he saw the police and just put his hands up in the air. He denied having seen any blue lights or hearing a siren before that point in time. App. 343, l. 9- 344, l. 6. He was nervous and upset. App. 344, l. 3; 367, ll. 19-22.

## ARGUMENT

To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must satisfy the two-prong test set forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). “First, a defendant must show that counsel’s performance was deficient. Under this prong, [t]he proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (internal citations omitted). “The second prong of the Strickland test requires a showing that the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant to the extent that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. The defendant is required to overcome the presumption that counsel was effective in order to receive relief.” Id. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (internal citations omitted). A reasonable probability has been defined by this Court as a probability sufficient to undermine the confidence in the outcome of a trial. Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 330, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007).

Where defense counsel articulates a valid reason for employing certain trial strategies, such conduct should not be deemed ineffective assistance of trial counsel. Roseboro v. State, 317 S.C. 292, 294, 454 S.E.2d 312, 313 (1995). Defense counsel may not, however, explain away errors and omissions which acted to the prejudice of his client’s ability to receive a fair trial simply by labeling them matters of trial strategy or tactics. In the case of Ingle v. State, this Court held that:

Counsel must articulate a **valid** reason for employing a certain strategy to avoid a finding of ineffectiveness. Where counsel articulates a strategy, it is measured against an objective standard of reasonableness.

348 S.C. 467, 470, 560 S.E.2d 401, 402 (2002) (emphasis in original) (internal citations

omitted).

- I. **Trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel for neglecting to request a jury instruction on the law of proximate causation where under the evidence presented at trial, the jury could have found that Petitioner's actions did not cause the wreck involved in this case and he was therefore not guilty of assault and battery with intent to kill.**

The State specifically alleged in the indictment against Cohens for ABWIK that Cohens committed ABWIK specifically by “ramming his vehicle into the victim’s vehicle while the vehicles were in motion causing the victim’s vehicle to wreck into trees and overturn, resulting in the victim having to seek medical attention in violation of [S.C. CODE ANN.] § 16-2-620.” App. 803.

“In South Carolina, [i]t is a rule of universal observance in administering the **criminal** law that a defendant must be convicted, if convicted at all, of the particular offense charged in the bill of indictment.” Bailey v. State, 392 S.C. 422, 433, 709 S.E.2d 671, 677 (2011) (emphasis in original) (internal citations omitted). A defendant cannot be convicted of an act not specifically alleged in the indictment. Id. at 444, 709 S.E.2d at 677. Where the State includes a more specific description in the indictment, the State undertakes the burden of proving the specific allegations to obtain a conviction. Id.

Therefore, under the indictment, it was not sufficient for the State to prove that Cohens’ vehicle struck his wife’s vehicle *at some point* but rather, that a specific act of ramming her vehicle *caused* her vehicle to wreck and overturn. There is evidence in the record that it was not Cohens’ actions of ramming her vehicle that caused his wife to wreck.

According to Cohens, when his wife went to change lanes from the left to the right, she clipped the front left side of his car and left the road across the front of his car and wrecked. App. 342, l. 22 – 343, l. 8. Under this scenario, Cohens’ actions would not have

been the proximate cause of the wreck and he would have not been guilty of ABWIK as alleged by the State in the indictment. Trial counsel was therefore ineffective for neglecting to request a jury instruction on the law of proximate causation. Where the State elected to charge Cohens with ABWIK by expressly alleging that a specific act by Cohens – ramming his wife’s vehicle - caused her vehicle to wreck and overturn, trial counsel should have requested a charge on proximate causation.

At the PCR hearing, trial counsel testified that he never even considered a charge of proximate causation, did not see how it had anything to do with the case and offered no strategic reason for not requesting such a charge. App. 541, ll. 18-22; 542, ll. 12-15.

An appropriate charge on the law relating to causation was particularly necessary where the evidence arguably established more than one way that Cohens’ wife could have ran off the road and wrecked. It was therefore crucial that the Trial Court charge the jury in a manner which focused the jury on the necessity that they find, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Cohens (1) rammed his wife’s vehicle; and (2) that this specific contact *caused* the victim’s vehicle to wreck. On the unusual facts of this case, defense counsel was ineffective for failing to request that the jury be appropriately instructed on proximate cause. This Court has recognized the need for a trial judge to tailor an appropriate jury instruction to unusual facts and circumstances present in a given case. State v. Day, 341 S.C. 410, 418, 535 S.E.2d 431, 435 (2000). The law to be charged in any case must be determined by the evidence presented at trial. State v. Patterson, 367 S.C. 219, 231-32, 625 S.E.2d 239, 245-46 (Ct. App. 2006).

Cohens was furthermore prejudiced by his trial counsel’s failure to request a charge on proximate causation. Nowhere in its jury instructions did the Trial Court instruct the jury that Cohens could be found guilty of ABWIK only if the State proved that it had to be the specific act

of ramming his wife's car that caused her to wreck and overturn as alleged in the indictment. App. 400, l. 3 – 420, l. 5. The Trial Court only gave a jury charge about the general elements of ABWIK. App. 408, l. 21 – 413, l. 16. The Trial Court's jury charge did not sufficiently cover the substance of the proximate causation charge that Cohens' trial counsel should have requested which resulted in prejudice to Cohens. See State v. Niles, 400 S.C. 527, 537, 735 S.E.2d 240, 245 (Ct. App. 2012).

Absent a charge on causation, it is impossible to know if the jury understood that they had to find that the wreck was caused by the specific act alleged in the indictment – that Cohens' actions at the moment the wreck happened were the proximate cause of the wreck. This further prejudiced Cohens where if the jury had understood the above, the jury may have reached a different verdict against Cohens. See State v. Harrison, 343 S.C. 165, 175, 539 S.E.2d 71, 76 (Ct. App. 2000) (holding defendant was prejudiced when based on the evidence at trial, a different verdict might have been reached if the jury had been charged with the instruction requested by the defendant).

On the facts of this case, and the narrow charge contained in the ABWIK indictment against Cohens, a charge of proximate causation was necessary and appropriate and should have been requested by trial counsel. Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to request a charge on proximate causation, and Cohens is accordingly entitled a new trial.

**II. Trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to request a jury charge on the defense of accident where one reasonable interpretation of the evidence supported a finding that the wreck was the result of an accident.**

Cohens testified at trial that while he was traveling in the right lane, his wife was traveling in the left lane and she began to merge left into his path. Cohens testified that she hit him, caught the front of his vehicle, and then lost control of and wrecked her vehicle. App. 342,

l. 22 – 343, l. 5; 344, l. 18 – 345, l. 15. Cohens’ testimony alone would have supported his request for a jury charge on the defense of accident, and his trial counsel was ineffective for refusing to request a charge on the defense of accident.

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