STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Georgetown County
Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2012-212923

RECEIVED

NOV 12 2013

S.C. Supreme Court

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

RONALD COHENS,

Petitioner.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

SALLEY W. ELLIOTT
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No: 1871

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

Respondent submits that the rulings of the post-conviction relief court were correct and supported by probative evidence. Thus, the petition for writ of certiorari should be denied.

Standard for Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the Applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in the application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the Applicant must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064 (1984); Butler, 286 S.C. at 441. 334 S.E.2d at 813.

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that counsel

rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668. The Applicant must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

A two-pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the Applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625, citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668. Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the Applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. Where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing a particular trial strategy, counsel's conduct will not be determined ineffective assistance of counsel. Simpson v. Moore, 367 S.C. 587, 627 S.E.2d 701 (2006). Watson v. State, 370 S.C. 68, 634 S.E.2d 642 (2006). "There is a strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and exercised reasonable professional judgment in making all significant decision in the case." Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007).

When reviewing the decision of the post-conviction relief court, the appellate court is concerned with whether there is probative evidence to support the decision. Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 710 S.E.2d 60 (2011), citing Kolle v. State, 386 S.C. 578, 690 S.E.2d 73 (2010). Our appellate courts will reverse the post-conviction relief court only where there is no probative evidence to support the findings or where the court's decision is controlled by an error of law. Id. Deference is accorded to the post-conviction relief court. Id.

I.

THE PCR COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT PETITIONER FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT TRIAL COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO REQUEST A JURY INSTRUCTION ON PROXIMATE CAUSE CONSTITUTED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WHEN THE MATTER IN QUESTION WAS ALREADY INCORPORATED INTO THE DEFINITION OF ASSAULT AND BATTERY WITH INTENT TO KILL, AND THE PCR COURT'S FINDINGS WERE SUPPORTED BY PROBATIVE EVIDENCE.

Petitioner claims trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to request jury charges on proximate causation. The PCR court found the allegations to be without merit. App. 794-797. Since the PCR court made sound findings and supported them with probative evidence, this Court should deny the Petition.

“The law to be charged to the jury must be determined by the evidence presented at trial.” State v. Harris, 382 S.C. 107, 114, 674 S.E.2d 532, 535 (2009). “A jury charge is correct, if, when read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law.” State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 270, 721 S.E.2d 413, 422 (2011). “Ordinarily, the trial court has the duty to give requested instructions which correctly state the law applicable to the issues and which are supported by the evidence.” State v. Peer, 320 S.C. 546, 553, 466 S.E.2d 375, 380 (Ct. App. 1996). When a jury instruction provides the proper test for determining the issues, the failure to give a requested instruction is not prejudicial. State v. Hughey, 339 S.C. 439, 452, 529 S.E.2d 721, 728 (2000), *overruled on other grounds by* Rosemond v. Catoe, 383 S.C. 320, 680 S.E.2d 5 (2009). When considering the trial court’s refusal to provide an instruction requested by a defendant, the appellate court must consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the defendant. State v. Commander, 396 at 422, 721 S.E.2d at 422. “To warrant reversal, a trial judge’s refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial.” State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 270, 721 S.E.2d 413, 422 (2011). “Failure to give a requested jury

instruction is not prejudicial error where the instructions given afford the proper test for determining issues.” State v. Harris, at 114, 674 S.E.2d at 536.

Proximate cause is the immediate cause. State v. Clary, 222 S.C. 549, 73 S.E.2d 681 (1952). It is defined as “that cause which, in natural and continuous sequence, unbroken by any efficient intervening cause, produces the injury, and without which the result would not have occurred.” State v. DeChamps, 126 S.C. 416, 416, 120 S.E. 491, 492 (1923). “But that doctrine is more broadly, rather than more narrowly, applied against the wrongdoer in a criminal prosecution than against a tort-feasor in a civil action. Thus, in a criminal action, the wrongdoer whose crime has resulted in injury to another will not be absolved on the ground that the wrongful act of negligence of the person injured contributed to the injury as a proximate cause.” State v. DeChamps, 126 S.C. 416, 416, 120 S.E. 491, 492 (1923); see also State v. Hanahan, 111 S.C. 58, 96 S.E. 667 (1918); see also State v. Badget, 87 S.C. 543, 70 S.E. 301 (1911) (stating if intervening acts were the result of defendant’s negligence, the intervening acts do not prevent the result from being attributed to defendant). Additionally, the intervening act which was reasonably foreseeable by the defendant does not absolve the defendant of the original wrong.

Id.

Counsel testified that he did not request an instruction on proximate cause as suggested by Petitioner at the post-conviction relief proceeding because the charge given by the trial judge properly addressed the matters in issue for the jury as the issues related to assault and battery with intent to kill. App. 541 - 542; See App. 408-410 (ABWIK jury instruction). The PCR court agreed and dismissed the allegation. App. 794 - 797.

Respondent submits the PCR court made findings that were correct under the law and supported by probative evidence. The instruction provided by the trial judge made clear that the

jury could only find Petitioner guilty of assault and battery with intent to kill if the State showed beyond a reasonable doubt that Petitioner possessed the requisite criminal intent in conjunction with an act or omission. The jury was charged that the State was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Petitioner committed an unlawful act of violent nature with malice aforethought. The additional charge on proximate cause as suggested by Petitioner was not warranted based upon the evidence adduced at trial and the charge provided to the jury. Petitioner claimed he made no contact with Nadine's vehicle causing it to wreck but, rather, Nadine ran into him and then lost control of her vehicle. The issue of the act that caused the wreck was squarely before the jury.

Moreover, the State's evidence revealed Petitioner forced Nadine off of the road by chasing her down and repeatedly ramming her vehicle with the last impact causing Nadine to lose control and flip over. The State's evidence also revealed that even if there is dispute as Petitioner claims about the final act that forced Nadine off of the roadway, Petitioner set into motion a continuous sequence, unbroken by any intervening cause, which produced the injury, and without which the result would not have occurred. Therefore, no issue of law is presented, and this Court should deny the Petition for Certiorari.

II.

THE PCR COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT PETITIONER FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO REQUEST A JURY CHARGE ON THE DEFENSE OF ACCIDENT CONSTITUTED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WHEN NO EVIDENCE SUPPORTED THE DEFENSE OF ACCIDENT—PETITIONER CLAIMED THE VICTIM STRUCK HIS CAR RATHER THAN ACTUALLY COMMITTING AN ACCIDENTAL ACT—AND THE PCR COURT'S FINDINGS WERE SUPPORTED BY PROBATIVE EVIDENCE.

Petitioner also asserts he received ineffective assistance of counsel for counsel's failure to request a jury charge on the defense of accident. The PCR court found the allegation to be

without merit. App. 794-797. Respondent submits that the PCR court made sound findings and supported them with probative evidence. The Petition should be denied.

The standard of review for a jury charge is outlined above in Issue I. “Harm caused to another, including death, cannot entail criminal responsibility for the actor if the harm was accidentally inflicted without intent to harm and without recklessness or negligence.”

MCAinch, Fairey, and Coggiola, *THE CRIMINAL LAW OF SOUTH CAROLINA* (5th Ed. 2007), citing State v. Brown, 205 S.C. 514, 32 S.E.2d 825 (1945); State v. McDaniel, 68 S.C. 304, 47 S.E. 384 (1904). “Accident is not an affirmative defense because the existence of the mens rea, be it intent to kill or criminal negligence, is an element of the offense which must be established by the state by proof certain beyond a reasonable doubt.” Id., citing State v. McDaniel, at 316-17, 43 S.E. at 388-89. “In South Carolina, the defense of accident requires showing the harm caused was unintentional, the defendant was acting lawfully at the time of the incident, and due care was exercised” Id. at 114, 674 S.E.2d at 537.; see also State v. Brown, 205 S.C. 514, 32 S.E.2d 825 (1945).

Trial counsel testified that the theory Petitioner suggested at the post-conviction relief hearing - that the wreck was an accident - did not comport with the Petitioner’s version of the facts as explained to counsel by Petitioner, with the evidence presented at trial, or strategy developed for the defense. App. 702 – 703; 709; 723. Counsel stated that he did not argue to the jury facts supporting the theory of accident because Petitioner denied that he committed any act that caused the wreck; rather, Petitioner insisted that the victim hit his car while he was driving in his lane and he did nothing wrong. App. 343, 348; 356-363. Counsel did not request a charge on the law of accident because the instruction was not warranted based upon the evidence

presented at trial and in view of the charges Petitioner faced and the instructions given to the jury. App. 723.

The PCR court found that the evidence presented at trial failed to disclose any contention by Petitioner that he committed an act accidentally; on the contrary, Petitioner specifically denied that his vehicle struck the victim's when the wreck occurred. App. 796. Instead, Petitioner testified that the victim drove her vehicle into his lane of travel and struck him while she was attempting to make a lane change and thereafter traveled off of the highway. App. 342 – 343; 348; 362-363; 367. The evidence also reflects that Petitioner was driving his vehicle in excess of the posted speed limit and admitted at trial that he intentionally sped up between the first and second collisions to catch Nadine before the second impact. App. 130 (Witness testifying as to approximate speed of the vehicles); App. 347 - 349 (Petitioner admits he sped up after Nadine). Petitioner committed an intentional act, was not exercising due care and was not acting in a lawful manner. Thus, an instruction on the law respecting accident was not warranted. It is also clear that counsel did not entertain the view that accident was applicable at the time of trial and counsel's argument to the jury was consistent with Petitioner's testimony, Petitioner's version of the events, and the strategy developed for trial based upon Petitioner's version of events and did not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner is merely second-guessing the trial strategy.

The Court made findings that were correct under the law and supported by probative evidence. State v. Glover, 27 S.C. 602, 4 S.E. 564 (1888). Therefore, this Court should deny the Petition for Certiorari.

III.

THE PCR COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT PETITIONER FAILED TO ESTABLISH HE RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL FOR COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO ARGUE THE DEFENSE OF ACCIDENT IN OPENING AND CLOSING ARGUMENTS WHEN ACCIDENT WAS CONTRARY TO THE INFORMATION PROVIDED BY PETITIONER BEFORE TRIAL AND NO EVIDENCE SUPPORTED THE DEFENSE OF ACCIDENT.

The State restates and incorporates its arguments from Issue II above. As counsel articulated a reasonable trial strategy for not asking for a jury instruction on accident, Petitioner failed to show that counsel's failure to argue a theory to the jury that was not supported by the information provided by his client prior to or during testimony presented by Petitioner at trial. Petitioner's testimony reflects a total denial that he did not travel into Nadine's lane of travel or run into her vehicle. The theory Petitioner attempts to offer after trial is inconsistent with his sworn testimony and his version of events as communicated to counsel before trial. App. 723. Petitioner failed to establish that counsel's failure to pursue and argue the theory of accident was deficient or that the requisite prejudice resulted. The PCR court correctly denied Petitioner's claim on this issue. As noted in Argument II above, the findings were supported by probative evidence, and thus this Court should deny the Petition for Certiorari.

IV.

THE PCR COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT PETITIONER FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT TRIAL COUNSEL PROVIDED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE IN OPENING AND CLOSING ARGUMENT COMMENTS ABOUT PETITIONER'S MARITAL STATUS WHEN THE COMMENTS WERE BASED ON REASONABLE TRIAL STRATEGY.

Petitioner also alleges counsel was ineffective for purportedly impugning the integrity of Petitioner and the victim during his opening and closing arguments to the jury. He contends that the comments called his character into question and that his references to the victim inflamed the passions and prejudices of the jury against Petitioner. The PCR court found the allegations to be

without merit. App. 793-794. Specifically, the PCR court found that trial counsel's opening and closing argument comments were based upon reasonable trial strategy and that Petitioner failed to establish deficient performance and prejudice. Id. Respondent submits that the PCR court's findings and conclusions are supported by the record. This Court should deny the Petition.

The purpose of the opening argument is to inform the jury generally of the nature of the charges so that the jury will be better able to understand the case and the significance of evidence as it is presented during trial. 75 Am Jur 2d Trial, Section 429. During closing argument the parties may argue the evidence presented at trial and its reasonable inferences. State v. Navy, 370 S.C. 398, 635 S.E.2d 549 (2006); State v. Copeland, 321 S.C. 318, 468 S.E.2d 620 (1996).

Petitioner testified at the post-conviction relief hearing that he was surprised by counsel's opening and closing argument references to Petitioner, the victim and their marriage and expressed concern that the victim might have taken the comments personally and reacted negatively toward him in her testimony. App. 679-80. Trial counsel testified that he was aware of the evidence the State would present at trial and developed a strategy for his opening and closing arguments based upon the State's evidence, information provided by Petitioner and his experience in the trial of criminal cases in Georgetown County. App. 694-96. Counsel stated that the portions of his opening and closing arguments about which Petitioner complains was his effort to portray Petitioner and the victim as a couple married for some time and who had a history of separations and reconciliations. App. 696-698. Counsel stated that he was portraying Petitioner and the victim as a couple engaged in a continued domestic dispute arising from their marital separation – a husband and wife who had lost their way - rather than a defendant engaged in criminal conduct. App. 696-697; 740. Counsel disputed that he maligned the victim but, as a

matter of strategy, was portraying the victim and Petitioner on equal footing and attempting to humanize them and the situation in which they found themselves. Id.; 715 – 719; 740.

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